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: Indicted for attempted burglary in the third degree- N
£ Indictment filed August 14, 1912. IERERCIR N ANREEE
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For the People, ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY CHARLES E.
COLLIGAN.

For the Defendant, JACOB SHAPIRO, ESQ.

A jury was duly impaneled and sworne.
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house building?

8 O"P H IA .ECEMA N, called and duly sworn as a witn’ea:s,
on behalf of the People, testified as follows:
. (The witness givéalner residence as 319 East 8th
street.)
DIRECT-HXAMIN AT TON BY MR . COLLIGAN:

9@ You are in the confectionery business at 319 Eaét‘Bth
8treet? A Yes, sir.

Q@ And were in that bPusiness on the 10th of August of thia,
vear? A Yes, sir. ‘
Q And vourplace is in the mity.and county of New York?

A Yes, sir.

Q What is the character of the building, is it a t@neﬁent
A It is a tenement house. .. |

Q And you use a tenement for store purposes?
store, yves, sir.

Q On which floor, the street floor? A The store is on the
groung . |

Q@ Yes, the ground floor? A Yeg ’/

Q@ At what time did you leave your place of husiness on
that night? A One o'clock-
Q One in the morning? A One o'clock.

Q Will you state whether or not you locked the dqors aﬁd”
windows? A Everything was in the bést condition.
Q You are positive of that?

A Posgitively sure-.

2 When next did you r eturn to your place of business?

A Only for .
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A ‘\llt wes about ten or a quarter to three. I wap caa?;h
i "ltrom the man that ﬁhere is 'bur?lara ir_x my store.
Q What did you see as to the,éaﬁdition_of ﬁhe doors or
windows, if énything? A Wnen I came down I ceme té the window,
80 you knoﬁ the glass about hoﬁ it isvin a confectiongry, it is 3 %
one part opened with a chain, so the chein was Pulied out and
the cornaﬁ was pulled out, broKEZT/;;;’part of the glass, the

side part, was cracked through and throgh. Tt was tried to

take out part of the glass, bBHut they were caught in tiﬁe;‘

Q Did you see this man there at that time when you arriv-
ed (indicating defendant)? A When I éame down I saw ﬁhie~maﬁ |
and the other fellow, and the third one of them_was.run aﬁaj?“ﬁ

Q@ You had no conversation with this man? A Yo, sir.

CROSS-EXAMIN AT'ION BY MR . SHAPIRO:

Q@ The first yvou knew of this so-called attempted bUiéléty.g
was when youw ere called down, isn't it? A Whaf?-v | |

Q@ When you were called down, thatIWas the first you‘knaw;',‘
of the so-called attempted burglary? A Yes, that's what ﬁhgy   
told me, there was robbefs in the store. .' |

Q You did not see this boy try to break intb’your p1§¢e;J
did you? A WNo, sir, I d4id not-. ’ | \ ’3}  .

'Q And vou did not see his ompaniom Holmes? A No, WthjI 
came down théYVVere locked up by two officerse St

'

Q@ You found them in custbdy of the officers? A Yes, and




_the 'bhi;d officer was looking for the thind fellow thutkoﬁé
| Q ‘Waaithia near jouf store? A That was the third store,
my‘store‘isVSéa and this was 332. S ? N;

. i Q@ Three houses away from your store? A Yes. . i

@ Your étore is between Avenue B and C? ;A- B and C. |  ﬁ&

Q And was this towards Awenue B or towards Avenue.C?

A They ran towards awvenue B.

@ How do you know they ran towvards Avenue B? A I‘ééuldnft
tell you that. | - T
@ You did not see them run, 4id you? A No. | | |
Q@ Then why  -did you say they ran towards Avenue B? A That
C is what 1 was told. . )
MR. SHAPIRO: I ask to have that stricken out that they
ran towards Avenue B.
THE COURT: Yes.
Q@ You say the window was broken? A Yes.
Q What part of the window was broken? A The side part
‘was cracked half a yard from the ground, Where the glass is.
Q Was it scratched? A It was not scratched, it was
cracked throughland through.
Q A piece of glass, wasn't it? A No, only on the side
part was covered with tin snd a piece of tin was torn off the
side, and the‘front window was also marks fmm a jimm&, bigpfi

marks where they wanted to pull down the front window, but they

was not able hecause we had two big locks inside-
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| Q How do you know it was merks from a jimmy? A Emmm
‘they found a jimpy and we triéd ‘the marks on it then.

Q@ It is it not a fact that you are only testifying from
conversation you had with the officers?.  A, Is that so? Why:
should I do 1t? | |
0 Did you ever see a Jimmy used on the door?' A Ndo‘

Q How do you know these were the marks of 1t? A Because

they found it and they brought it to the place and they fittied.

Q Who tried it? A The officers tried it-

'Q Do you see that officer in court now? A Certainly,
there i1s two officers.

Q@ And the officer who told you this, is he in cpuxt now? - ‘.
A Yes.

Q Will you point him out? A Well, why not?.

Q Is that the officer told you they”wérg the marksof 6 
jimmy ( indicating)? A The middle one (indicating).

Q That is all.

ALEXANDER SIEGEL, called and duly gworn'as;a; 
witness on behalf of the People, testified thfough 6ffici€i‘
Interpreter Fischer as follows: | |
(The witness gives his residence as 331 Bast Bth”Sfi).,‘
DIRECT-EXAMIN AT ION BY MR. COLLIGAN: | |
Q@ You life where? A 331 Fast 8th street.

Q And that ie the next house to the house where thia‘lastf‘,
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1ady hes her place of business? A Yos, just across the ways
| Q Now, you recall the nigﬁt of‘theﬂloth.of August? A Yes.
Q@ And ym‘iwere at home? A Yes-.
Q@ And you have a room maﬁe,,havem't you? A\‘I‘livé with
another man - |
8 Did you see anything_peculiar taking place that morning,
late that morning? A I gsaw that between two and three §'Q100k

they were standing by the mindow and working away at it.

Q Who was standing there? A THree men. , , : | -

Q Do you kmow the men? A YNo. ‘

Q Did you see the men that night afterwards? A I saw two, ‘
and the other one I did not. S

Q@ Yow, was one of the men this defendant here? A One was “
this one and one was another one.

Q@ Now, I want you to explain how it was that you,haPPan'ed,_
to be up at three in fhe morning? A It was very warm and I »
wanted a drink of water. The seltzer ﬁraé s tanding on the viindo‘yir-‘v
-sill; I went to the windowsill, and when I cane to the v'(:h"ld,ow‘, ,
I saw these men standing there woi‘king, and I opened the Winél‘dﬁ““‘
and Watched to see what they were doing. 1 saw them.-trying:‘t,b"’["'
open the window to see whether they could get in-

Q How far away fram you were they? A Thres houses. i

Q@ Will you state whether or not any of them had s 1ight?
A Matches. o

Q@ When you saw them what did you do? A Myself and*‘th‘e"

i
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other man went downstairs to look for a policeman.

Q@ How long.did_it take you togget a policeman? A Not
long- |

Q@ Well, how long approximately? A About five minutes.

Q What did you dd when the policeman arrived? A I went
and T called down the other boy; I went and called the wife, -
the lady, the one that was here.

Q Well, what next did you do? A That's 211 I diq:

Q Where next did you see this man (indicating the defend-

ant)? A In the Night Court.
Q Well, didn't you see him when hé was caught? A I saw
them when they held their hands up. The policemen told them to

hold up their hands-

Q@ Where were they when the policemen told them to hold up

their hands? A About two houses away fram Where\ﬂhis thing
happened.
Q State whether they were walking or running when you

first saw them? A Theyw ere running fast.

Q  And when the policemen told them to hold up their hande.: 

they stopped? A Yes, and the third one esceped-.

Q@ Did you see any one of them throw enything away? A 1

‘

did not hear it--I did not see it, but I heard a sound.
Q And did you tell the officer afterwards about that?

A No, I did not. The officers found it out themselves:

Q Now, you are positive this is one of the men? A ‘Yes;

.
¥

i
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o GROBS-FXAMIN ATION BY MR. SHAPIRO:
Q VWhere were you when fou first saw the‘three men at this
door? A In my houses
Q That is across the street from.the Place where this
store 18?7 A Just across the way. - ) ;y
Q@ And was it dark? A It was not dark. The electric
light was burning.

Q Where was the electric light? A In the stores’

Q There was an electric light burning in that store? - ’~ ‘5?

A The lamp was burning in the store, the lamp belonging to. ﬁhe;

that owns the store.
Q Was there any 1light on the street? A No, I saw smoke:
and I saw them using matches.
- MR. SHAPTIRO: 1 ask that that part be strickgn out.

Q Wag there any light on the street near the store? A Itﬂ“
was a very light night.

Q I am asking you whether there was any light, any'értifi?  fA
elial light in the street near that store? A No.

Q It was the ordinary lights that can be found at three
o'clock in the morning, on the a%erage morning? A Yes, that's’
right.

Q@ And this light in the store, was it bufning full force?.
A The lamp was there near the ceiling, across the way from-my

window, the usual light-. ; fat ]

Q Full forece? A It was a smell light, but it was a veryﬂk‘ 

Ve



good light.
Q What kind of 1ight was it that you saw, gas or electri-

‘city? A I think it was electric 1lights. ‘ |

Q Well, didn't you see a flame? A T only saw that there

was a light in the store and I could see them very <well from

Lo et

“*'Er&«ypw,.,a "

my window.

: .%?%;

@ Well, what did you see from your window? A I saw them e

e
working in front of the window about an hour, and I could not i
Bt e Loy

see that any longer. ~
MR . SHAPIRO: T would sumgest that s more literal -
translation be giyen, because I understand the answérvwas,
"I saw three people at the door". He said, "I saw three
people at the dooxr."
THE INTHRPRRTER: He said, "Three people at the window,
I saw them working an hour and I could not look at it any"
longer." | |
Q@ Did you see their faces? A Yeg, I saw theg well from
a distance. One had a blue cap and the other had a brbwn hgtg4
Q But did you see their faces? A A iittle-
Q Sufficiently to identify them if you did not see thmé‘
gince the time of that attempted crime? A Yes, I could“éee:
so that I could identify them again-.
Q And you were on the sem nd floor of a house.on ﬁho oth9?~
side? A On the top flooTs ‘

Q@ And you mean to tell this Court and jury that fromfthe’”




‘f@p ﬁ.dcr, on a darfc night, three o'clock, you were &‘bla %

identiry three people working on the other side, with fhﬁir,

- backs turned towards &ou,so as to accuse them of a ocrime? A I
said a 1ittle, I did not see them very well. I saw them a 1it-
t le.

Q Wnat do you mean by a little? A I mean by e 1little that
I xnow them.

Q You saw these boys before? A When T went to'get the
police they were still standing the;e and‘worging.

Q Did you make any outcry when you saw these men at thét
door? A No.

Q None at all? You_simply went down and went for the poQ'

licemen? A I did not say one word.

Q At the time you were downstairs in the street were they -

st111 at the door” A They were stopping s little.

Q@ Were thelr faces turned toward you? A Yes, I saw ﬁﬁaﬁ
a little-

Q Ang the& gaw you? A They saw me, and the othér“man”bom-
ing downstaldrs.

Q@ Two people together? A Yesge.

Q And thev did not stop? A They stopped-.

Q@ Did they go away? A No.

Q They remained in the same spot? A Yes.

Q The other twe Dboys that were with this boy, Werethéy

much bigger then this boy? A The other one was a-little tallaer.




Who do you mean by the other man? A The third ories

Q Who is the third one? A I don’t know-

Q@ Well, couldn't ycﬁadescfibe him? A He had a light cap E

Q That is all you know about him? A Yes.' . ;
Q And vhat 4o you know about this boy? A I saw this boy ﬁ;
and the other two, they were smoking cigarettes all the time Eﬁﬁ?:

while I saw them, they were smoking cigarettes,and the third
one was Working awa\all the time. Then the two"went to help- | | ‘¢L1JW‘ 
Then I saw that they would succeed in getting into the store |
very soon and I went away to get the police.
Q Well, why didn't you and this other man go over and grab 
these three boys working at the door? A Because I was affaid5 
Q@ YNow, vou say two of them were wsmoking? A TIwo were
smoking . .
Q And one of them was working at the door? A'nYeg,'two ‘
.(pointing to the defendant). A v
Q You mean this one and another one weré smoking? A  Ye${! ,
Q And the other boy was working at the door? A Yes-. .
Q So that this boy was not doing anything at the time wﬁ§ﬁ ;
you saw him? A WNo, not at that time, but afterwards the thiié} 
one called the other ﬁwo to help him-. | oy
Q@ VYhat do you mean by afterwards? A Two were hpldingk§h£§”i
the bottom of the window and one pushed something onto thg.ﬁ@f— ‘

tom.
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QZ Well, you just said they were smoking all the time an

one boyrwas'working'at the window? A They were smoking but af-
terwards he called them.

Q And you were watching them‘doball.ﬁhis'Work and you d4id
nct go to cell a policeman, but were waiting? A I went an hour
later and called the polices- |

Q@ An hour later you went and called the policemsn? A Yes,
I wae afraid to go downstairs, bhut afterwards I did £0 doWﬁ-
stairs. |

Q@ You saw these boys working at the door for an hour?

A Yes. |

Q@ Did vou make any outcxry? A No.

Q@ Is the neighborhood very well populated? A It was ih
the night tiﬁe, if‘was quiet and no one was to be seen-

Q@ But it is easy enough to get a crowd there any night
by making an outery, isn't it? A At night time you can't wake
up anybody.

€ So in other words, you mean to tell this Court and jury
that yvou were standing at a windbw on the top floor across thé
gstreet, watching three boys try to break into a sforé, and fdr_
an hour, and that in the hour's time the only thing they wae
able to succeed in doing was to mske a crark in the window?

A T did not gee the crack in the window. I only saw later thé‘v
mark.s which they made with the instrument. |

Q@ YNow, let us get down to the time you called Fne officer;‘

0



‘iﬂiam 414 you go for the officer? A 8?;5:1;11' atreet.

Q Sixth streét and what avenue? A Avenue B.

Q And this other man was with you at the time? A Yes, he
went with me.

Q And did you come baék with the officer? A;‘Yeg, two‘ R
officers- One came frob.Avenue B and one came from?Avenué c.

Q When did you first see these boys after you came backf v g
with the officers? A When I ceme hack with the policemen I saw
them there- S R

Q Where were you when these boys were first seen by yo@?

A I wgs not quite dressed when I cane downstairs. I went ﬁoﬁ
wards 7th street and I asked a citizen there where can L fiﬁd'a
policeman-

Q Just a minute, I am not asklng you that. I asked*wheﬁf
you came back with the policemen, where were you with ﬁhe offi;
cers at the first time vou first saw these two boys at the
store? A I went to Sixth street and I came back with the of* 
ficers. |

0 Well, after vou pot back, how far away fTr am thié storef J
were you vwhen yvou first saw these three boys? A I séw»tnése" 
boys three houses away from there. |

Q VYou were three houses away from there when you first s§ﬁﬁJ
them? A They were three houses away when I first saw them,{éﬁd
when they saw the police come then they started to run - |

Q@ Where did they stay when the police came? A ThéY 8qW :
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the policemen coming around the corner.
@ And is this store in the middle of the block? A In the

i

middle of the blocks

*

Q@ And as soon as they saw the policiemen they started to

run, didn't they? A Ag soon as they saw the policemen coming

=

A

they started to run, yves-

N
&

pox
S e
A3

Q@ That is ail.
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HARRY RAPH AEL, (17th Precinct), called and duiy 1 “‘ | fd‘:'
‘sworn as a witness on behalf of the People, tesﬁified as
follows:

DIRECT-FXAMIN ATION BY MR. COLLIGAN:

Q@ You are a member of the Municipal Police Force of the

City and County of New York? A Yes, sir.

Q@ And on the night of the 10th of August you were working?

A Yes, sir.

Q Where?” A I was working on Avenue C from 11th stregt
to 6th street.
Q Did you see the defendant that night] A Yes, I did.

Q Where?” A I geen him on 8th street.

i e

Q Did you arrest the defendant? A Yes, gir, I did.-

R R R

- Q Will you state the circumstances surrounding the arrest?
A At about‘3:15 A. M. T was told that there were boys working
on 8th street, in & candy store, that was on the outside working .

to get in. I ran there and as I was going there. I SeendﬁEQSGl



w‘a—v running away.

Q@ By these boys whom do you mean? A The defendant r*&gh:’b

in front of me and Robert Holmes and another man who got away.

Q A1l right, what did you do? A I plac e‘d. them under ar~
rest, and two witnesses, the one thstwas -here tasfifyingfbafotb
me, and the other men identified them as the men whokwere ﬁork-A
ing on the window and door- |

Q Did you have a conversation with this defendaﬁt? A Not

with this one, no, I didn't at the time, nothing at ally nQVéry
said a word to him-.
Q@ Did you have any further conversation with either of
them? A When I found a jimmy.
MR. SHAPIRO: Just a minute. I object to the inter- R -
gpersing of any conversation had with the other défendanf-
THRE COURT: The objection to the question is overruiéd.
(Bxception.) |
Q@ You Béy you found a jimmy? A Yes, sir.
Q@ Where? A In a cellar.
Q On what street? A On 8th sgtreet.
Q Is this along the line where you saw these‘men running?
gir, along the line- |
Q Have you that jimmy here? A Yes, gir.
MR . SHAPIRO: If your Honor pleasse, hefore anything |
further in this ig permitted to go om I wisdh %o obj&ct?td' 

the introduction of the jimmy.
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‘THE COURT: It i1s not introduceds
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¥R. SHAPIRO: Well, I move to have that portion uf,ﬂw
te;timony stricken out as to the'jimmy; antﬁe ground that
it has not been connected with this de:}t?end.ant . | |
‘0-k THE COURT': Well, you may resérve-yoﬁf mot;gn- .We
will go on with the testimony. |
MR. COLTIGAN: Now, I offer the jimmy in évidencé-:

THE COURT: What identification have you? BRI

MR. COLLIGAN: The other witness states that‘hg:abw
one of these men who was running throw something aloﬁg'the;‘ff‘
line where they were running. The officer comes up éfthf.}
arresting them and picks up this jimmy.

THE COURT: Then I will receive it. »

MR . SﬁAPIRO: I object ﬁo the admission of this jimm&w
in evidence, on the ground that none of the three witnésses‘
up to date testifies they saw any of these defhndgnﬁstﬁrqﬁ;v.
anythiﬁg away. One of the witnesseg testified he'heaidﬁbi'
some sound. He did not identify the sound. This officé£”1 
did not see the jimmy connected with either of‘ﬁhé d§é1  '»
fendants or this defendant. * |

TER CQURT: I will receive it. (Exceptﬁoh»)

(Marked People's Exhibit 1.)

Q@ Now, you had a.aanversation with this defandamtr@ﬁﬁébﬁ;‘
ing the Jimmy? - | ,‘“, o
MR . SHAPIFO: Your Honor, I obj e,_c‘_'ft'v::l@ ﬁhm cmf'br- e

P!
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ground ﬁhat it ip leading and inc ompi;te@, ’J?hia wit
hae‘already'testiéied he had no conversation with ﬁh&&fVa%7
fendant. | ’
Ohj ection ovefru;ed. ExéepﬁiOn; |
Q@ Did you have a conversation with any or eithgf of the '.; i
two men?_ A VWith both of tkem. |
Q State what the éonVeﬁsation_Was?

MR . SHAPTRO: If your Honor plesse, I object io this

testimony on the ground that it has alreqdy been anawersd,4‘

that this witness has heen asked whether he hadrany-coﬁﬁer~f

sation with the defendants, and he answered he had a conver- . = . = '

gation with one of them but not with this one-.
THE COURT: He may answer.
MR. SHAPIRO: Txception.

@ State where the conversation was connected with tﬁe”Jimeﬁ
my? A When I had them in the station house prior~ﬁo putting.’
them in the patprol wagon--~- .

MR . SHAPIRO: I ask that the party with Whom the;d6n-
versation was had be stated. |
BY THE COURT:

Q& Who was it? A T asked Robert Holmes, "Did you ‘e,vali"
see this thing before"? He says "That don't belong to me, iﬁ
belongs to the fellow that got eway." Then I zmked Herachkbwiﬁz
"Have you ever seen this fhing?" And he never anawanad;?* |

#

BY MR. COLLIGAN:

®@ Who was present 1f any one at the arrest? A At th &m5 f

w

o8




rest there were two other officers and the witnessas.

CROSS-FEXAMINATION BY MR . SHAPIRO:

Q Were you the officer that made the arrest? A I was one o

of them.

Q And whom did you arrest? A Why, we all, the three of - wﬁf‘

us, closed in on these men and we locked them up.

Q@ You were coming from where? A  Avenue C.

@ And the other officers were coming from where? A Avenueﬁb"ﬂgriﬂp

Q And at the time you first noticed this defendant, Whexe '; By ‘}; “
was he? A About three buildings away, which is about 80 feef,‘ |
80 or 90 feet away from the place where they tried to burglarize;

Q@ That is the time you first noticed them? A That is the
time I first seen them-

€ And you were coming from Avenue C? A I wag‘bamiﬁg“fram   7
Avenue C. o

Q Now, can you tell us about how many feet it is from the‘m,
corner of Avenue C to the place where this store is 1ocatéd?

A Well, it must be about, well I am no practical man about,fig—’
uring, but I believe it was about, according to the nuﬁber of‘
houses, it must be, it is about 100 feet or 76 feet.

Q This store is in the middle of the block? ATt aihft ‘
exactly in the middle of the block: |

Q Well, ebout? A Well, no, it ain't in the middle Of,fhe

BlLock. It 1g more towards Avenue C-




I Q@ Well, you know about-the_length of that st?a@t,‘ﬁﬁn’ﬁt
you? A Weli, I don't know the length of any street. I coﬁla
téll you ahout, but not exactlyg‘ |

€ And you weﬁe rpunding the corner of Avenue C when you
first sew this defendant? A When I segn-fhem runhihgvi was -
rounding the corner of Avenue C. |

Q@ Whnat were they doing at the time you first ssw them?
A Running. |

Q@ Where was the arrest made? A ?ﬁe arrest was made, ﬁg
halted them about three houses awéy from the place where ﬁhey
tried to get in. |

Q The block on 8th street, on 8th street between Avenue
C and Avenue B is a long block, longer than usual, isn't it?
A Yes, sir, it is.

Q@ It is about twice the length of the usual street,isn't

it? A Well, not twice the length, it is a long blocke
Q@ Now, you mean to tell this jury that in the time if’toak"

you to round the corner of Avenue C and ret to the middle of a

long block, these boys who were running only were able to run

the length of two houses? A Well, there was no outery or any—' ”

thing that would cause these boys, would sive these boys any

idea we were coming, because these people came to us in a nice

»

way. We were notified in a nice way, and that's how Wevgétvthamé”_

Q@ You heard the testimony of the previous witness, didn’ﬁ

vou? A Well, I heard as much as I could, being -away at the
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5 L n‘ﬁhp‘r end of the roome |
Q And you heard what he sald, didn't you? A Not ov ary-
‘thing.
¢ Well, didn't you hear him,éay'that he waévcoming with
v,that officer from around Avenue £, and Just as he.was rouﬁdingv
the corner with the officer the boys saw him and started to run; RN
vou heard him say that, didn't you? A I think I didy I am.not Fﬁjtlr
sure, I omuldn't hear everything he said: _ o E -Kv;
Q@ Then the first time the boys saw yow Was when you rounded . ‘f"”\
the corner? A The boys I don't know, they might have seen the
other men- L don't know 1f they seen me.- I know I seen't£em;‘
Q@ Were you running at the time? A I certainly was.

Q@ Why were you running when you knew there were two offi-
cers coming down from Avenue B? A Well, it is alweays custom-
ary to help one another out in case of trouble. It is my duty
to'run at that time of night anyway especially-

@ You knew two officers were coming down from Avenue B?
A I don't know how many were coming. |

@ But vou knew some were coming, officers? A Certainly,i‘
I could see them by the shield. There is a big electric 1ight«
there and you can see-

Q Where? A On Avenue B and Avenue C, there is Lights.

0 Were you on Avenue C? A Ygs- |

Q And you saw the shield of the officer on Avenue B?

you can see it.




Q You:veyesiﬁht is very good? A VVéry good oxr 1 coﬁ%&ﬁ’*]

pasé the examination.

Q@ These boys were running just as you rcuhdé& the corner?
A Ag I came around the corner they started to run-. .

@ Do you know why they ran? A Thev must have'smpileala ' ' ;

rat, or otherwise they mt wouldn't run, otherwise they WOuld

stand there.

Q Isn't it a fact that you saw two boys walking aldngiath

street? A I didn't see these two boys, these three at least,
walking . |

Q Isn't it a fact you were walking along 8th street?
A No, sir, it is not a fact-

Q 4And complaint was made? A It ig not a fact. 1 was
running - | |

€@ On the strength of what 1ldentification did you arresf‘“
these Poys? A On the strength of what. identification?

Q Who identified these boys? A Why, the witnesses-

Q In what wey did they identify them, what did they tell
yvou? A Thev told me they seen these boys trying tp break in-

Q These boys? A Yes.

Q Who told you that? A The two Witnesses;

(0 The one that testified just now? A Yes. |

0 Did they .describe their looks or anything, did they déﬁw

gscribe the looks of the boys at the time you arrested them?

A No, I simply says "Are these the men that you seen'bréaking ;}
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 iﬁ?“ And;théy said "Yes, ﬁhéy are." | 5
o And you saw these two boys outside on the street, thres o
‘hquées away when you arrestéd them ? A Wny, I seen then run-
ning and 1 run after them. |
€ And you did not see them at the dooi? A No.
J @ You did not see them wbrking there at all, didiyou?
A Yo, sir, I 4aid not. |
€ And one of theése witnesses that testified before was.
with you at the time, wasn't he? A When I made the arfééf heHV”
was there to identify them. "“' R
Q Didn't he call you? A Yes. |  1" S i»ljvi_‘fw -
Q@ Was he there with you at the time when you were going | l
around the corner of Avenue C? A Sure.
€ So neither he or you sew these boys do anything on~8tﬂ“ 
street at the time you roundsd that corner? A Well, they°were
running when we seen them. They were not doing anything'théﬁQ
@ That is all you saw, they were runniné? A Yes, thatfé
all 1T sew. o
Q@ That is all you saw, they were running? A Well,-he~héd‘
gseen things hefore. | B |
@ I am talking about that perticuler time. Now, Whafa
did you find this jimmy? A I found this jimmy in the qéilark
Q@ What cellar? A On Avenue--on 8th street hefween‘bvénuaf
C and B. | 5

0 Do you know the number of the house where you found 1t?
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;% L A I_mﬁy‘have it in my*11Ftla‘mamorandum‘boqk. I think I have
vit;v I am not sures I have not got it in my memorandum book,
bthe number of the houses
Q .Do you know where the house was? A Yes, I do.
Q@ Do you know how many houses away from this house 1t Wﬁe?
A About three or four houses away- . | ‘ ‘i ' -‘ﬁ:

@ Are you sure? A About what?

Q@ Was it down in a cellar? A It was down in a cellars

€@ Do you recall the appearance of the houses along ofinear
by this candy store? A All tenement houses-

@ Have they each a cellar? A They all have cellars-

Q9 Do you know how, far in feet this cellar was awayAfrom
the candy store? AT can't tell vou how Tar in feet at all- ’ }‘i
Never measured it.

Q You don't know exactly how many houses away from the
candy store you found this jimmy? A Three houses away. It was
within three or four houses away-

Q Aras you sure of that? What ig that? A Tt was either:
three heuses or four houses awal .

Q Well, I would like to know positively whether it is
threa or four? A Well, exactly I can't tell you the number.

It mayv have bean s dlfferance hetween 30 or 40 feet. I don't
know where they threw it. That is I mean to say it may have baén
30 ox 40 Teet, from four or three houses.

Q Vas 1t ripht near where these boys ware arrested? A Yes,




right near where they were arrested.

= Q Right alongside of thet? A Yes, I think it was in the

same building, it must have been three houges aways:

v

; L . Q@ Three houses away from where they were arrested? A No,

the jimmy was three houses away from the Place where they Wérgf

trying to Break in, and there is where they were 1Qckéd«up;

-

Q@ Where were these bhysAlocked up, just where you found
the jimmy? A Just where we found the jimmy.

Q@ JFxactly at that particular spot? A In that cellar.

S e e e s+ e
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@ There was a cellar laying right alongside where these
boys were standing? A They were standing over the cellar.
The cellar is down below and they were on the sidewalk, th&t 15, 
on the grating.

it ol

9 And they dropped/right down through the grating?‘ A Yes,“ j
‘that is where they dropped it. |

Q@ Who dropped it? A Wgll, either one of the men. I
don't know which one.
VQ You don't know who dropped it? A WNo, I didn't see who
dropped it. |
Q Did you see anybody drop 1t? A Yes. I heard the
noise, but I didn't see it drop.

@ You d4id not see who dropped it? A I ould not tell
who dropped it.

6 You heard the noise, you say? A Yes.

Q@ Whatwes the noise yvou heard? A A metallic
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Q.,Is théwe a gratihg ocver this cellar? AYés;rﬁhdéﬁViﬁw\

Q Aﬁ,d do yOu mean to say the boys while running and stand-
;ng right over a grating were able to'drop a bilg Jiﬁmy like that
so 1t would fall right through? A When we locked them up'they
were not standing right over the jimmy. We took them to.tha
building line in order to look for the bther,man- There was
three men.

Q Where was the other man? A One got awaye L

Q Which direction did he go? A He Weﬁt in one of the
buildings and we couldn't find him.

Q Was he with these boys? A Yes, he was-

Q How do you know that? A  Because they allran in the
same direction.

Q@ They were all running at the time, the three of them?

A Yes.

Q That is all you know about it, that is all you know to

comnect these two with that boy? A Yes, that's all. I saw them"

running. What I know is I seen them running away from where
they tried to break in.
Q You saw three boys running, in other words, and this was

one of the boys? A Yes.

9 That is all you really know about this case? A That's .

all I really know.
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WILLIAY A SMITH, (17th~Preéihct), called ﬁhﬂ}&ﬁﬁg
" eworn as a witness on behélf‘or the PéOfl?’ sttifibﬁ uﬁ»'
folloﬁs: | o
DIRICT-EXAMINATION BY MR. COLLIGAN:
9 Did you assist in the arreét of this defendant?‘A Ygs}
sir. .

@ Will you state to the jury briefly the circumstances sur-

rounding the arrest? A I was in 6th street between Avenues C LF

and B, only a short distence off the corner of Avenue B, when , 5f§‘

I seen the man on fixed post at Avenue B and 6th stréet leave - f\k[a'“
Lo o

his Tixed post. I had seen a citizen come over and tell him

something. What he told him I didn't know, but I seen him 1eave?,‘.

his fixed post, and when he left his fixed post I knew therelwaé-
something wron' . I walked over and asked him the trouble. He =  ;
t 0ld me that there was a couple of men--

BY THE COURT (interposing):

? Never mind what he said to you. That is not ccmpetenﬁ«
gvidence.

BY MR . COLLIGAN:

Q Just tell what you did in consequence of that coﬂverﬁ§+‘
tion? A I went around up Avenue B to 8th street. I hed léarhn
ed that there was a couple of men attempting to burglarize,a v |
store. I says "We will go down now along the houses B0 thqj'-
don't see us, because if they see us they have a good lead on

us and 1f they attempt to run they will pet away fyrom.uss" So
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we Wgnt‘aldng in close to the wall until we got near at hﬁhd,
and these three defendants, there was three theres and one got
awéy; as we got close to them they seen us and they attempted

W to run. They only got a chance to go a few houses When thay

ran into our arms. We got two, and as we got the two I paseed

them over to the other men. I says "Watch them, theré‘goes

N S

another up through the house® "
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'I,ché.aqd him through the hall a.rte;' him end he had got &
start on nieh., I ran wo fast that in ;unhing 1 awung the stick
andvI had to pass the stairway; by that tiﬁe he ﬁad.ééiﬁed.the
first fioor. I ren up after -him, | “

MR, SHAPIRO: If your Honor please, I object to éli
this testimony as to the escape of another man thgt was
there,

Objection overruled. Exception,

Q 'Go on? A I ran up after him, I again gained.pn him;
I did not care to fire a shot at the man, not knowing that he
had committed any crime or attempted crime. I didn't know wha&
I was going to shoot after him for, so I wouldn't shoot. I
threw the stick at him and the stick hit him acrﬁss the legs
and he fell, and he had again gained on me and gained the en-
trance to the roof‘and escaped.

On my way down before I chased this man I seen one
defendant, Herschkowitz’aqll was coming down the street, when he
noticed us and he ran three houses and stopped there and stooped.
that way (indicating) and I heard something sound, a sound
a8 if something, a piece of iron had hit a grating., We looked
around ahd couldn't see ahything, and after the arrest the
“officer in the case, he went hack and found the jimmy there in
about three houses away from where this érime was committed,

Q Did you have any conversation with this defendant?

A I aeked him who the other man wus that escaped, wha t his neme

'
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Wa‘d’. - I asked him what they were doing at that hour of bhanigm, ,
? What A4 he Bé‘y? A They told me; they ﬁere out for a w
'alk; ” | : |
Q And what is all you know sbout the case? A .Thaxvi;ﬂ"{hw‘

all I know 2bout it,

[

CROSS FEXAMINATION BY MR. SHAPIRO:

Q You were aware at the time you were first notified «;;?}
of this of what was‘taking place ? A. I was not notified;‘: 5
The man on fixed post was noticing I followed him up Avenue B,

Q Then'you did not know anything of what was taking'pléce?“"
A bNot at the time being, no.

Q@ You came up through Avenue B? A I was in 6th atrpet
near Avenue B, |

Q You went up through Avenue B? A It was betweén 7th
and 8th street on Avenue B that the other officer from.the 15th
precinct notifiéd me of what was going on. |

Q So that there were two officers coming down 8th street
from Avenue B? A Yes, |

Q And neither of you knew why you were géing theie?
A I knew after I passed St. Brigid"s Church on Avenue B, Whéieb_:
I asked him where he was going. o

Q Asked who? A I asked the officer what was the txou?1§, 
the officer that had been on fixed post, | e

Q And as a result of the conversation with him.boﬁh.of‘ydn '

were walking down 8th street? A, He had told me where he was
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going, of '-w.hfat f.oc;k him away ’fro,m’ his fixed 1‘9031;".‘ L e

Q Allrright; Can you tell ﬁe hbw‘mﬁCh,distance it is
from thelcorner of Avenue B to this store? A Well,‘it ie
sur=ly two-thirds‘of.a.blobk. Exactly how long one ofvthoéev
streets are I don't know, but it is t@o—thirds of the -street
from Avenue B. | o,

Q But yqu don;t know the length of the street? A._deonﬁﬁ':”' g?%
know the length, but I should judge it woula be about three pps
hundred to four hundred feet. |

Q Where were you and the other officer when you‘first
noticed this boy? A Well, we had not noticed him until we -got
within about, I should judge 150 feet away f rom the place,

Q About 150 feet away from the place, you first noticed
these boys? A Yes,

Q@ What werethey doing at the time? A Well, thgy had
looked up and they attempted to run and they eseen us, they
immediately stopped short. This one defendant here stopped down
and s8lid something in the grating, and we come up and grabbed
them and told them to throw up their hands. |

Q Where were they when you first noticed them? A They
were in front of this candy store,

Q Standing there? A No, they were‘out a little way
from the candy store,

Q On the sidewalk? A Yes, By

Q And when they saw you c¢oming they started to walk?



A They started not to walk, on & trot like,
Q Run? A I wouldn't exactly call it run.
Q There were three of them? A Yes, three.

Q Were they &all three walking in one line? A No.

Q How were they walking?® A They were scattered lik?.‘

Q On the ssme sidewalk? A On the same sidewalk. One
was facing Avenue C, the man that escaped.

Q One was facing Avenue C? A He had come up with
them and attempted to go back to Avenue C.

Q Which was the one which was facing Avenue Q? A The
man that escaped.

Q So that the man that escaped was in bhack of these tvo?
A He was in back of them.

Q Did you hear the testimony of this second witness
before? A The short stout mén?

Q Yes? A 4I éid,

Q You heard him say that these two boys did not hold any
instrumentes in their hands, that they were smoking cigarettes
all the time? A I did not.

Q You did not hear him say that? A No.

Q How do you know this boy was the one that dropped the
Jimmy? A T hed seen him, he was the man nearest to the
house line.

Q In front? A In front.

Q Nearest to you? A Nearest to me.
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Q And how tar away from the placa where bhia aty

A I didn? t" "

burglary took place did you find the Jimmy?

the Jimmy. The other officer found the Jimmy.

Q And how do you know where it was? A He had told me 80,

That is where we 1ooked for the Jimmy, but at the time 1ﬁ

was dark.
Q Who told you? A The other officer, Raphael.
Q Didn't you know that the jimmy was dropped?A I didn't ‘

know that there was a jimmy dropped, ne,

e g - - JRRTORCRNTy R
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Q You just testified you heard the jimmy drop? A I didfn?fm*t{
. say I heard a jimmy drop. I said something dropped which sduﬁded‘

like it, | :

Q Didn't it appeal to you reasonable to search and find
out what dropped? A We 1ooked down. I couldn't gaih éntrén¢§ fr
to the cellar at the time and I didn't care to go in and waké?égq}'
'ple up at that hour of the morning. |

Q When was that? A That was about three o'cldck in—
the morning.

0 So that the jimmy was not found at that time ?
A No, not to my knowledge.

Q It was found sometime later? A As far es I underat@nd;ﬁ
yes. .

Q And at the time these boys were arrested no agarQhﬁaa~
made for the jimmy, was there? A  Yes, there was a search'méda.

Q But you couldn't get any? A We couldn't get 1n.\"Tho
\
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best we done was a’t'rvik‘e‘ raatcheé, aﬁd look through the gratmg.

Q And when you came back later you found the Jimmy?
A I did not go back later,

Q Who came back later? A The other officer.

Q And that is thé one that found the jimmyé A, Aé‘fdﬁ.
a8 I understand, yes.

| Q How much time elapsed between the time when these boys

were arrested and the time he found the jimmy? A I don't
know when he came back and found the jimmy.

. Q@ Who made the arrest? A The'other officer.,

Q@ The one that testified here just now? A Yes,.

Q He was the one brought these bhoys away? A With my
assistance. It was on his pbst.

Q@ And at the time he was bringing them away he did not
have the jimmy? A YNot that I seen,

Q Now, yvou say one of the hoys escaped? A Yes.

Q@ It was not this bhoy, of course? A Surely not.

Q Was the boy in hack of him? A The boy in back of him
which had run up with him, stopped short, turned around whep he

seen us and made for Avenue C,

Q Now, there were three officers altogether? A Yes,

Q And one was coming up from Avenue C? A 'fes.

Q And two coming down from Avenue B? A Yes,

Q And there were three boyes altogether walking at a trot,
and still one of these hoys was allowed to escape? How do YDﬁ

account for that? A He ran up through the building when he
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seen the‘officerd. |
Q Vell, you were in front of him?A His back was facing
me;- I was not in front of him. I was in back bffhim.<
Q Well, which way did he run? . A He ran towaids Arenﬁe'
C. He had come running towards Ayenue‘B with thé o;hei two
defendants. When they seen us he stopped short and thailie wﬁen _

this instrument was dropped.

S gy :W'&;:: P L

Q When he saw you the instrument was 'dropped? A Vhen

e

the three of them seen us they stopped short,

Q You are just testifying about the boy that escaped

g

and you said he was running towards Avenue C, énd when he saw
the officer coming up avenue C he ran towards Avenue B, and T :
when he seen him he dropped this thing? A He did not. This is
the man dropped it (indicating the defendant)

Q How do you know that? A  Because he wae the nearest
to the house line when he dropped it.

0 You don't know what he dropped? A No. N

Q All you know is he bent down? A He stooped down, he
was right alongside the grating, he étooped down and I seen hia 

hand go that way (indicating) and he straightened up again,

Q That is all? A And as he stooped I heard something

i s S

click like,

e

o

Q Was the bottom of the cellar a cement floor, do you know?

b R e e

A Yo, there is dirt there, rubbish which probably congregated
there for six months or more.

Q@ And you mean to say you heard a metallic c¢leng on that?




A As it went- t}quugh t.ha gaating. |
Q - When that Jjimmy fell down into the y'gratviné,‘ into the airt
and rubbish, that you heard a clang? A As it ﬁeﬁt'thfough the
gratingfl heard the clang, | d
Q Rut you say he bent down and gently threw aOméthing?_
A He bent down, whether he dropped it gently or not I don't
know. |
Q But you heard the clang? A I did hear the clang.
Q You did not make any search for it? A I stated before
,I did make a search. |
Q But you did not see anything? A I did not aee-anythihg; ‘

Q Isn't it a fact -- I withdrew that -- you testified a

moment ago that when you chased the third boy you did not fire a.

shot because you didn't know that a crime or attempted crime
was being done? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, isn't it a fact tha t when you came thef§ you
found these two boys walking, and you in a conversation with
the other officers said, "We can't arrest these boys, ﬁefgotf
nothing against them", and the otherofficer told you "Oh,Ané#er
mind, we will take them in anyhow". Isn't that a fact? - “
A I have made that statement, yes, sir, but after investigating
and found where part of the window had been torn away, thé baluster
like on the corner of the window, the lock torn away from
underneath this baluster and the window cracked and the windo#'"‘

forced and marks of the jimmy on, I thought there was enough




uV1d°n¢°‘to.make an arrest, S o - .

Q , Yes, but you did not. see these boys do that? A I aid

k)

‘not.
Q . And at the time you ceme up the othér offiéer was-riéhﬁ
in back of these boys, wasn't he? A Whichqfficer?

0 The officer just a moment ago? A He was in the‘baék' ; N

Q And he told you that some crime had been commit£éd.of-l | vr%fg
attempted? A I had no conversation whatever with'thE'oiher |
officer before --- * o s ~fkl

Q@ (Interrupting) But you just testified you said "We.haie‘
nothing against these boys". A WNot with this officer.

Q And you heard this officer testify before? A Yes.

Q And that officer testified that at the time he got upntéi
these boys he knew that a crime was committed? A If he knew

I don't know of what reason he hed for knowing it., I didn'ti

it,
know it,

Q Well, why were you welking down Avenue B, or from'Ayenue’
B? A I had been informed there had heen a crime,

Q Then you did know a crime was committed? A I didn't
know it. I had been informed there had been,

Q You knew that something suspicious was going on in
8th street? A From what I hadbeen told, yes.

Q You came down 8th street preparcd to make an arrest? | ( flf
A If what hed been told me was true.

Q Well then, why did you say to the officer "Let us 1et .
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4hese boys alone, we have nothing againet them"? A‘ Un*hn
‘We :t‘ound we did have something againet them we could not make
an arreet.

Q But ,he had found that alresdy? A Not that I knew it,

'Q Well, he testified to that a moment ago that at the time

he ceame up to the boys, he knew that a crime had been comﬁiﬁy
ted; Why did you go back there for and search to'seé if,a o
crime was committed? A Well, I di@n't want to make an arrest
and I didn't want to let the boys go until‘I kﬁew what they |
had done, and I thought he should do the same. )

Q Well, tﬁe only knowledge on which you made the arrest:
was when.you came back and saw that the door hed been tampered
with? Thet ie all the knowledge you had? A The door hadbeen
tampered with and the lock had been broken off and the window
cracked.

Q That ie all the knowledge you had? A And this man
had dropped the jimmy. | |

Q You don't know whether it was a jimmy or not?
not,

Q Then why did you say that? A Because the other officer
found this instrument afterwards in the cellar,

Q. That is all.

MR, COLLICGAN: That is the People's case.

¢

THE DEFENSE,

¥AX HERSCHXKOWITZ, the defendant, called and




Sjo:n as a witneba ’on bel@é.li" of ,thg‘ deféﬁue, ‘te-atiﬁ‘ad
: ‘a8 follows:- ‘ o | o | .
(The witnees gives his réaidence as 155.G§erck“sfreet;)

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SHAPIRO:

'Q You are one of the defendante in this matter?
A Yes, sir, -

Q You heard the charge against you, attempted bufglary ,
in the third degree? Are you guilty of that crime? A No, éir;
not guilty,.

0 Were you on 8th street between Avenue B and c, at'three
o'clock in the morning on August 10th? A I was overe- |

Q Were you there? A Wo, eir, I wes over in 8th street
nearer to Avenue B.

Q Answer the question, were you on 8th street between I
Avenue C and B at three o'clock in the morning of the 10th
of August? A Yes .

Q Wés anyone else with you at the time? A One fellow,
Robert Holmes,

@ A friend of yours? A Yes.

0 Was there any one else with you 'at the time? A Wo,sir,

Q What were you doing on 8th street at three o'clock in
the morning? A We come back from North Beach.

Q What time did you come from North Beach? Ai Well, it
was around half past one, .
Q Where were you going? A I went home and I tried to

wake up my people to go to sleep. I says I wouldn'tl wake them
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up, I will take him home, I went up Avenue g md turned in Qﬁh

'stréet to t ake him up.

Q Now, were you working at the time,vat,leaat'worc;you
employed at the time vou were arrested? A Yes, sir. .

Q@ For whom were you employed at that ftime? A Kramer,

‘ {g‘_.?&.‘ z : -

Q Where hes he his place of business? A He ie a fruit

et ——r et

e

pedler,

pesentss
- A
5

Q Where is his place of business? A Well, he has no‘busi;'v

ness, He peddles with a weagon. o
Q Well, where does he reside? A 98 Goerck stre et.
Q And you were working fdr him at the time? A_ Yes, B ~
Q And what wes the nature of your dutiee as an employe for
him, what did you do for him? A I deivered the goods for him,
80old some goode for him. |
Q And because of the fact that were working for him, what
time of day did you have to come out? A Between four and
five o'clock,.
Q@ TBvery day?
A Yes, sir,
Q On this particular day in question were you working
for that man?
A Yes, sir,
Q And you were to go to work at what time that morning?

A Tive o'clock I was supposed to be at work.

Mnd where did Holmes live? A 103 East 105th street,
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Q And you were taking Holmes up to his houm_a‘ wzwh -
_the intention of going to work after that?
: A Yee,.gif; | |
Q ﬁow long haed you been working for Kremer?
A About one month; | |

And before that were you employed?

Q ﬂ

A Yes, sBir, ‘

0, Where were you employedbefore that? | : “ 4' ' Ey )
A By Max Steinberg; . | _', 275 ’;f

Q0 Where ie hie place of business?
A 38 Bond street,
Q How long were you with Max Steinberg?

’

A Over a year,
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wear.

Q ¥hat were you doing there? A Operator on ﬁmw ok

Q@ Vhat were you earning a wesk?

>

I3 » . . . . N . . ‘r
MR. COLLIGAN: I object to that.

A Fepom fifteen dollars.

THE COURT: Well, 1t is already answered.

Q Fifteen dollars a week? A Yes.

Q Were you living home at the time? A Yes.

Q Vere you living home at the time you were arrested?

A Yes, sir.

Q Have you a father and mother living? A Yes, sir.

Q@ Why did you leave the employ of Mr. Steinberg? A»‘Ifb

wag over the seaon.

Kramer?

air,

Q
Q
Q

Q

Q
Q
Q
Q

There was no work to do? A Yes, sir.

‘

And vou were working plecework? A Yes, sir.

And then you immediately entered the employ oI.Mr.‘”

A Yes, sir.
Did you ever héye a bank accoumnt? A Yes, sirtf
Where did you have your bank account? A April 2nd.
This year? 19127 A Yes. |

In what bank? A The Dry Dock Savings Bank.

You opened your account on the 2nd of April? A Yaes,

What did you open your account with? A Ten dollars.

MR. COLLIGAN:; I object to this kind of testimony-as
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incompetent .

THE COURT: Well, I do not think I wouldfﬁastg any

more time about that. I do not think the iact that é»mghj
has a bank account necessari]y{ establishes his h'orlles,ty'. |
MR. SHAPIRO: Well, a boy of his age, it tends to e ';{7'
prove == | | | o
"THE COURT: No, it proves he has a bank account and
nothing else. We will not argue it any more.
Q@ Did you in any way attempt to commit the crime on 8£h | .~7 
street between Avenue B and C on that night? A No, sir, | |
Q@ Did you have a jimmy in yoﬁr hand? A No, sir.
@ You heard the taatimony that you and another boy were
standing smoking, do you pmoke? A I never smoked in al} my

1life,

Q@ You never smoked in all your life? A No, gir,
' . i
Q At the time you were arrested were you ae&rched?‘A-"Yéﬁ,

sir.

Q@ Was any instrument found on you? A No, sir, nothiug~f"'

at all.

Q Did you ever have in your possession any instrumznt{l

such as a Jimmy? A Yo, sir.

Q@ Did you drop any jimmy down a cellar as you were walkiﬂét..?,

along on 8th street? A I didn't drop anything. I didn't
¢ R

even bend down.

Q You were walking along? A Yep, Bir.
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@ Vere you runming at any time? - A No, sir, we were

_ﬁalking. B
Q@ Did you see Officers con&hg towards you? A.iYea,Sir;
Q@ Did yuou run or walk when you saw them? A"i‘wa§ ;a1k1ng.
A Did you know they were caming after you? ‘A 'ﬁo, gir,
Q@ Was there any one clse on the street at the.time? ’A.Yea,
sir.
Q@ Did you see somebody running? A Weil, I didn't dée
any one run.
A There was one

Q Well, was there another boy there?

boy with me.

Q But you don't know anythigg about a third boy? A No,
sir.

Q@ You were not a third boy, were you? A No, sir.

Q@ Did you stop at all at this candy store? A No, I
was walking. e

q You were going on from Avenue C to Avenue B? A Yes,

sir.

Q And at no time did you break into a trot or run? A I
was walking all the way through.

Q At the time you were arrested was any conversation had

between you and the officers? A No, sir.
@ Did the officers have a conversation among themse]:von?f
A One of them said to another, "We ain't got nothing on these

boys, let them go." o one of them said, "No, we will take

U DR, TR
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them.' N
Q AAnd that is all that'wés said? _lij'Thaf's all that
was saié there. | |
- Q@ Was anybody there to identify you at the tiﬁw you
were arregted? A Well, there was one of themvwitneséee thét
took the stand, and he himself said that I was not the boy at

the window.

U S gy

MR. COLLIGAN: I object to this, what he said.

5o 4 e e a

THE COURT: Objection sustained.
Q That witness is in court, you say? A Yes, sir.

Q All right, that is all.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. COLLIGAN:
Q@ How Qld are you? A Nineteeh.
Q@ How long have you been out of school? A TFive jearu.
Q Five years? A Yes, sir,
Q@ When did you begin to earn rfifteen dollars a week?
A Vell, after I have learned the neckwear trade.
Q When? A Around a year ago, a little over a year.
Q You left school at fifteen? A Yes, sir.
Q@ What did you do when you left school? A Well, I was
arrested then.
Q For what? A T don't know for what.
Q@ You don't know? A No, sir.
Q You were in the House of Refuge, weren’# you? A Yesn, B

sir,
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Q And you dm'tknow vrhnf; i'oﬁ wore a,-,_,,,t",d for? »A %é
sir.‘ | = | e .

Q@ And that iﬁ when you left schdol? A Yeg;:‘i didnli
leave school. While I wﬁs.in schoolAtheyAtook me‘oﬁt éf;SGhooi.
Q@ Vell, don't you know what you were arrestedff§f?FtA"(N8f

answer) .

f

Q@ Now, you left school when you were fifteen? A I‘didn!tf ",&;f
leave school. I was arrested when I was in school. I.w§§ ’:'5 ‘  ; 1
taken out of school. | o

Q@ At what are was that? A Afound fourteen.

Q@ How long were you in the House of Refuge? A Sixteen
months,

Q@ What did you do when you left the House of Refuge? A I
went to work.

Q@ Vhere? A On Lafayette street.

Q@ In what line of business? A Neckwear.

Q@ And you worked there for how many years? A One year.

Q@ And you got fifteen gollars a week? A No, sir, that
is when I first started the trade. |

Q@ Well, at the end of the year then you got'fifteen ﬂolé
lars a week? A No, sir, not at the end of the ysear.

Q Well, all right, you worked how long after thét? A Whiln Ié
worked there pome other fellow cdlled over there at thatjob‘and xJVi
he eay? he will give me a dollar more and I went to wohgftdr o

. '

him.
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'@ And you don't know what »yon‘yere‘ arreut‘ed roi? A No,
Q After serving gixteen monthg for it?v A Yaa;
Q You worked for a fruit pddﬁler, you say, on'the'lth
of August? A Yes, sir. | o
Q@ Iw he here to-day? A I think he is.
Q@ What day of the week was August 10th? A Saturday
morning. .
Q And you usually ﬁent to work at four o'clock in the
morning? A Between four and five.
Q VWhat time d1d you go to North Beach this night? A I
went around three o'clock that day.

Q Thrse in the day? A In the afternocon, yes, sir.

Q@ Did you have any sleep the day before or that same day

before you went at three in the afternoon? A No, sir.

Q Didn't have any sleep at all? A No, sir,

Q@ And you would tell the jury you were to go to work.thaf.
morning at four o'clock? A Yes, sir.

Q What time did you leave North Beach? A What timé?
It was around twelve or half past twelve. |

Q@ How did you come over from North Beach? A Grand Street
car, |

@ What did you say you were doing down in that vicinity?

A Sir?

Q What were you doing dom there? A Ve were in amusement

St S b e

e ey

ey
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+ @ Where you were arrested-gt three o'clock in the morning,

amusement places? A Vell, I was taking Roberf;Holmssﬂhome
then. | =
Q Taking him home? A -Yes.
Q@ How old is he? A Twenty-one, twenty.
Q And youare nineteen? A Yes.
Q@ And you were taking him home? A Well, I waS‘Walk~

ing home with him.

e

€ And his home 1s away uptown‘in 130 something? A 2B6th

street.

Q And yours is away downtown? A Yes,

Q And you want the jury to believe that that is the reasom

you were there? A Yes,
Q@ How did you get to Avenue B? A VWell, he took me
home and I went up and the door was closed, so I come down

again and I told him I ain't going to wake my people up'bgcauséf

4 .

I will have to go to work right away. So he says, "Take ﬁ% up

towards the elevated." So I told him I wil) take a 1little ngk;

with him until the elevated. So I started to walk that w&yi
went up on Avenue B and turned on Eighth street, and while ﬁb
were walking on 8th street hBetween Avenues B and C, while we
were near Avenue C the cop come over to us and aaya we were
under arrest.

€@ What did you say to him? A I didn't say anything to

him. I wanted to know why. | !

o e v e s B e -
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- g‘qulli‘tpan,ypu did say abmpthingito him? » ihu£‘a1a

you say to him? A I askéd‘him why .
" @ Then what did he-aay? A He asked us if wé;WQre,

the fellows over at that stocre. So we toid him'no; |

Q@ Had you seen any one elge on‘the st reet? A No;girffi

Q No one else but you fellows? A Yes, sif; | |

Q Are you sure you were not with two other men? A NO;
sir, one. | | |

Q Did you hear one of these witnesses here haﬁed Siegei
testify that he saw you at the door of the store? A Well,
at the time that they got us he says "I ain't thé fellow that
was at the store, it is the other fellow that got away.“

' He said r

@ You were not the fellow at “he store? A Yee,,air,
that it was another fellow that got away.

Q@ You heard him say that? A Vell, that was what he said ;i
at the time we were arrested.

Q@ He said that you were not the man that was at the stotb? 
A Yes. o

Q@ But it was the othef fellow that got away? A Yes.

Q@ Did you understand from that that he meant that the
other fellow was with you? A Np, sir.

Q@ What did you think he meant?  What other fellow do
you suppose he referred to? A VWell, I don't know the other 
fellow. |

Q Didn't you ask him which man he referred to? A Well,
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‘yu, sir, he uya the rallow that ran up in the housg.
Q The rellow that ran up in the houee, and you uﬁra

th with the fellow that ran up in the house, were you? A ﬁo,v

sir. | N
Q@ You had never been with him that night? A No, uir.
Q@ Now, isn't it a matter of fact that you three fellowa ‘were

together? A Ve were not together.

€ And isn't it a fact that you attempted to burglariéé R
that store? A No, sir. .
Q And isn't it a fact that one of you had a jimmy? A Well,
none of us had a jimmy.
.Q And isn't 1t a fact that you were the only fellows
on that street when the officers came, and ian't it a fact that ' .{
Siegel, that witness, poinfed you out as one of the three men?
A No, sir, he did not point me out.
Q@ What did he do? A At the time when they got us he
says, "This ain't the fellow that was over there."
Q@ He sald you were not the man? A Yes, sir, he said
that.
Q@ Did you hear him testify on the stand to-day? A Yes,
sir.
@ Did you hear him say to-day that he said you were the man?
(No answer). |

Q That is all.
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I B_I‘D ORE - K R Al’M E R, cé;ll,ed -and duly sworn as a witness

on behalf of the defense, testified as follows:

(The witness gives hié residence as 98 Goerck.stfeet). ‘ .
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, SHAﬁIRO:

Q Vhat is your business, Mr. Kramer? A Wholesale pfb-“‘
duce. |

Q@ And in the course of your business do you operate a
horse and wagon? A Yes, sir.

Q@ Do you know Max Herschkowitz? A Yes.

Q@ How long do you know him? A I xnow, I gell his father,'
he has got a store and I sell his father goods.

Q Well, how long do you know Max Herschkewitz? A From
the store I know him. |

Q Well, how long? A About a year.

Q@ Was he employed by you? A Yes.

Q@ Was he eﬁployed by rou on the 10th of August, 1912, at
the time of his arrest? A He worked for me from July untiles

Q Vell, at that time he wzas working for you? A Yea. 

Q@ What were his duties as employe to you? A To go doﬁn
for the horse in the morning and bring it down. Then I went
down on the dock to buy goods.
Q And you were with him? A What, with the horse?
Q Well, when did you first go with him? A VWhat do you

mean?

Well, you were suppoed to meet him every moming, were
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.you? A Yes. : S e
@ At what time did you meet him every morning? A Five

o'clock.

¢

Q And before that time he was supposed to go down and.

¢

get the horse and hitch him up to the wagon? A Yes.

Q And he was supposed to do that on that morning in ques=

I

tion, wasn't he? A Yes, sire. | R
Q@ Do you know Max Herschkowitz's reputation in the nqighé |

borhood? A 1 knoﬁ frcuxhis father, he is very good. | | '},f
Q@ You only know from his father and that he is an em- : s

ploye of yours? A Yes.
@ That is all.

MR. COLLIGAN: No questions.

MAX STEINBZERG, called and duly sworn as a wite
ness on behalf of the defense, testified as follows:
'(The witness gilves his residence as 126 Cannon street).
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SHAPIRO: | -
@ Mr. Steinberg, do you know Max Herschkowitz, the de-
fendant in this action? A Yes, sir. |

Q What business are you in? A Neckwear contractor.

Q@ Where have you your place of business? A 38 Bond

gt reet .

@ And you recall when Max Herschkowitz was in your em=-

A Yes, sir.

phoy?



‘When 41d he leave your employ? A Well, he left arov

‘

@ Around Jine of this year, 19127 A Yes, this year.

@ How lomg had he been working for you? = A Over a year,
@ And what was the nature of the work he did for you?
A Operating.

Q@ On a machine? A On a machine.

TR MR S S ey R ey s T - .
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Q@ He was working for you over a &ear, you say? A Over a N
year, yes, sir. -

@ And did you discharge him? A No, sir, it got slow
after the season and he left the trade.

Q@ Did you employ other working men? A Yes, sir.

Q@ How many others? A About twelve more.

Q About twelve more hesides him? A Yes.

Q@ You have your neckwear place now too, haven't you?
A 38 Bond s%reet.

Q@ You would be willing to take this boy back in your eme

ploy, wouldn't you? A Yes, sir.

Q@ You have always found him honest when he was with yqu?
A Yes, sir, I tised to trust him with money and everything,
used to send him to the bank and used to send him to houses and
all over. He used to go to the bank for me and I used to aond
him out with work to deliver sometimes. |

Q@ You used to entrust him with money for the bank? A Yes.

Q@ And you would send himaround with work? A Yes.
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v -  .Q‘ Ana‘ydu have no ooméigint égaihgtvﬁ;m:atvall?fiillkﬁb; “
sir. o S ‘

Q¢ And §0u would be willing to employ him.tb-d&??f'A fééi :
sir, | o

MR. COLLIGAN: I object to that. e
MR. SHAPTRO: That is all.

MR. COLLIGAN: No guestions.

MR, SHAPIRO: ,The defendant rests. Noﬁ, if your |

T S ey ot g e -

Honor please,'I move to dismiss the complaint in thia'&cét
tion, on the ground that there has been no sufficieﬁt'
identification, no sufficient proof of the motivelof'fhis
crime or intention to fasten itself upon the defendaﬁt inv
this action.

Motion denied. Bxception.

I

Mr. Shapiro closed the case on behalf of the defenaé.f'f
Mr. Colligan closed the case on behalf of the People. .

The Court charged the jury.

(The jury found the defendant guilty of‘attempted bufgégi

lary in the third degree). | L




The People vs. Max Hbrschkowitz.

"

THE COURT'S CHARGE,

HON. WARRFN W. FOSTER, J.

THE COURT: Now,'gentlemén of the jury, the de~
fendant at the“ﬁar is not cﬁarged with burglary. He is
charged with attempting to commit burglary. |

Burglary is the breaking and entering into é build=
ing, or any part of a building, with the intention of
committing a cfime'therein. There are two elements:
First, the felonious intent, as the law has it, that is

to say, the intention of committing a crime. If there

' therein
wag an intention o?hommitting a mﬁmwz and then a building
' N
is broken into and entered, it is burglary. Here it

is claimed that thé defendant, wi th the intention of burg=-
larizing the premises, did an act tending to burglarize
them, hut failing in its purpose. That is to séy, thét
the defendant, with the intention of breakinginto these
premises, used a"jimmy" on the door. If the defendant"
did any act with theintention of committing crime, which
act feiled to complete the crime, and yet tended towards
its commission, he is guilty under the law of an attempt.
An attempt to commit a crime is by our law madg a

crime. Thus, Mr. Foreman, if I struck at you and some.

one caught my arm hefore it struck you, I would attempt




crime.
but

burglary, attempted burglany.'

evidence pro and con.

morl sense.
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Take it and useyour

It is true that when citizens

to mtrike you, and if I attempt to strike you, that is a
Here, the charge is an attempt at‘burglaryz‘notv

You hax}e’ heard the

own good com-

take‘their‘

places in the jury box, it is not expected that they

leave thelr common sense hehind.
use that same common sense, that knowledge

ture that you use in your ordinary affaeirs.

You are

expected £o 
of human na~ |

If you do

that and weigh the evidence carefully, giving the de-

fendant the benefit of every reasonable doubt, and at the

pame time trying the case fairly for the people, you will

do your full duty.

Gentlemen, teake the case and determine whether or

not the defendant is guilty of an attempt at bhurglary .

in its third degree.

MR. SHAPIRO:

If your Honor please,

I ask your

Honor to charge the jury that this case rests purely on

circumstantial evidence,

and as such ~--

THE COURT: Well, T do not know that it does. The

officer says he saw the bhoy there.

dence.

stantial evidence.

weigh all the evidence, giving it the credence which th?y'.

think i1t deserves.

That is direct evi-
I cannot Lell them il rests solely on circum=-

It is for the jury themselves to

¢
B




_.MR. SHAPVIRO‘: ~ And that if the jury ‘fiind t’hé %’?ia
dence to be solely circﬁmstantial;_thé:facta,proébd must
be all consistent and point'to.thnguilt of the defendant
and besides must be inconsistent with his ihnoéencgqi;
-THE COURT: Well, that is good law, but I‘do not
think it applies in this case. Gentlemen, take thgr‘
case.
MR. SHAPIRO: I take an exception.

(The jury retired at 12:45 o'clock p.m.)

The jury returned to the court room at 2:05 o'clock

p.m.

THE CLERK: Gentlemen of the jury, have you agreed
upon a verdict?

THE FOREMAN: ‘We would like to have reaa o#er @hé

testimony of the witness, Mr. Siegel.

THE COURT: Yes, the stenographer will read the tes=..

timony.

(The stenographer reads the testimony ﬁo the jury'
as directed) | -

THE COURT: Now, gentlemen, if that answers yqur‘
- guestion, you may retire.

(The jury rendered the following wverdict:

We find the derendant guilty of attempted burglaryf,'

in the third degree).

MR. SHAPIRO: If your Honor please, I move to get

e

i
¥
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aside the Yerdidﬁ of the ju:yvon,the grbu@dkthat it 'is

against the Weight_of evidence, on the further grouhd
that there has heen no identification at all of the
prisoner, and on all the grounds specified in Section 999

of the Code of Civil Procedure.

Motion denied. Exception.
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